RECORD NO. 22-CV-0066

In The

District of Columbia Court of Ag



Received 06/21/2022 04:30 PM Filed 06/21/2022 04:30 PM

ZETA PHI BETA SORORITY, INC., INTERNATIONAL EXECUTIVE BOARD, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

VALERIE HOLLINGSWORTH-BAKER,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CIVIL DIVISION (Case No. CAB3737-21)

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Robert P. Floyd, III CONSTANGY, BROOKS, SMITH & PROPHETE, LLP 12500 Fair Lakes Circle Suite 300 Fairfax, VA 22033 (571) 522-6100 rfloyd@constangy.com

Counsel for Appellants

LIST OF ALL PARTIES AND COUNSEL

Valerie Hollingsworth-Baker

Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Inc., International Executive Board

Tamara Gordon Manning

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal of a preliminary injunction for which the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(2)((A)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue in this case is whether the Superior Court abused its discretion in granting an injunction which prevented the Appellant from performing its duties in accordance with the lawful Bylaws of the Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the authority of a Board to discipline an officer of a nonprofit corporation for misconduct. Appellee, an unpaid, volunteer officer of Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Incorporated (the "Sorority") filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction to invalidate a suspension that the International Executive Board ("Board") of the Sorority believed that it had lawfully imposed based on Appellee's misconduct. The Appellants argued that, as is generally true with most corporations, the Sorority's governing documents confer ultimate and supreme authority to the Board to manage the affairs of the organization, including administrative personnel matters at all times except during certain meetings of the membership. Appellee argued that the Board had the power to remove an officer for misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance in office, but that the Board did not have authority to suspend, or otherwise discipline an officer.

The Superior Court granted the Appellee's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, but its Order improperly restricted the Board from imposing any further discipline whatsoever, which presumably included removal from office, on Appellee without the consent of the entire Sorority. The governing documents for the Sorority do not support this restriction, and the injunction improperly limits the Board from performing its lawful duties.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES

1. Appellee commenced this case on October 14, 2021 by filing a Complaint in Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Case No. 2021 CA 003737B. *See* Complaint ("Compl."), Appendix I, pp.7-33.

2. Appellee is the International Grand Basileus¹ ("IGB") of Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Inc. ("Zeta" or the "Sorority").

3. In September 2020, the International Executive Board ("Board") of Zeta, received multiple concerns and complaints about Appellee's performance of her duties as IGB, which included serious allegations of inappropriate and offensive conduct by Appellee, and violations of Zeta's policies and expectations.

4. Pursuant to its authority and responsibility to manage the administrative affairs of the organization, the Board engaged an independent investigator to review these serious allegations and render a determination. This extensive and thorough

¹ This is the organization's name for the president of the corporation.

investigation included interviews of 26 people including past and present paid staff associated with the organization.

5. The investigator rendered a determination on December 30, 2020. In its determination, the investigator concluded that the concerns and complaints raised about Appellee's treatment of Zeta personnel were largely substantiated. The investigator concluded that Appellee had engaged in unprofessional and disrespectful conduct that included yelling at, being rude to, and demeaning staff, which created a toxic work environment. Appellee's conduct was also found not to have been isolated. She had engaged in a pattern of inappropriate conduct with respect to at least four staff and former staff members that had been observed by multiple witnesses. The investigator concluded that Appellee's conduct violated Zeta's Constitution and Bylaws, Member Code of Conduct, and Standard Operating Procedures and recommended that the Board remove the President from office. See Exhibit M of Appellee's Memorandum of Support of its pending Opposed Motion for a Preliminary Injunction, Appendix I, p. 497.

6. Following the determination by the independent investigator, the Board held several meetings to establish a course of action with respect to the findings and to determine what further action may be necessary. Among the questions raised during these meetings was the extent of the Board's authority with respect to the range of discipline that it could impose.

7. Article V of the Zeta Bylaws establishes the Administrative Powers of the Board. Section 1a of Article V makes clear that "[t]he International Executive Board shall be the supreme authority of the Sorority during the interim of a Grand Boulé." ² (*See* Exhibit A of Appellee's Memorandum of Support of its Opposed Motion for a Preliminary Injunction, Constitution and Bylaws (herein after "Bylaws"). *See* Appendix I, p. 98. Article V, Section 1b provides that "[t]he administrative powers of [Zeta] shall be vested in the International Executive Board. . . ." *Id*.

8. Neither the Constitution nor the Bylaws provide a clear definition of the powers of the chapters while assembled during a Boulé, beyond that the chapters are entitled to vote upon particular matters (including approving amendments to the Constitution and the Bylaws and electing officers and other Zeta-related positions). *See* Constitution, Articles VI (Appendix I, pp. 80-81) and XI (Appendix I, pp. 86-87), Bylaws, Article XX. Appendix I, p. 112.

9. The Bylaws explicitly indicate that the "administrative powers" of Zeta shall be vested in the Board. *See* Bylaws, Article V, Section 1(b). *See* Appendix I, p. 98. As a result, the Board is responsible for the administrative duties described in Article V, Section 2 of the Bylaws, including approving budgets, managing investments, hiring and overseeing Zeta's executive director and support staff,

² A Boulé is a meeting held by Zeta every two years but can be more frequent as requested by 25 or more chapters or called by the Board. See Bylaws Article XII, Section 1. *See* Appendix I, p. 104.

supervising Zeta's International Headquarters, and – notably – removing officers for misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance. *See* Bylaws, Article V, Section 2. Appendix I, pp. 98-99.

10. Article V, Section 2(e) of the Bylaws provides that the Board may remove an officer with the approval of least two-thirds (2/3) of the elected members of the Board. *See* Bylaws, Article V, Section 2. Appendix I, p. 99.

11. Article XV of the Bylaws concerning Suspensions provides at Section 2b that the Board "may recommend removal or suspension of any officer for just cause and proof thereof." *See* Bylaws, Article V, Section 2. Appendix I, p. 106.

12. The Board determined that the Complaint and Discipline Policy did not sufficiently address the conflict situation where the International Grand Basileus was the subject of a complaint and investigation and was therefore charged with imposing discipline on herself. Accordingly, on March 9, 2021, an Ad Hoc committee was formed to explore the matter and on March 15, 2021, the Board voted to amend the Complaint and Discipline Policy to provide that to the extent a complaint involves the International Grand Basileus, all of the actions and responsibilities of the International Grand Basileus would be immediately taken up by the International First Anti-Basileus (effectively, the vice president). Appellee participated in this meeting and did not object to this change. This change was effective as of March 15, 2021. Appendix II, pp. 560-567.

13. The International Executive Board convened on March 28, 2021, to hear testimony and argument in the removal hearing of Appellee. The Board heard evidence from Appellee and the Sorority, deliberated, and determined that the charges against Appellee were substantiated. While the Board did not find that permanent removal of Appellee from her position was warranted, they did determine that sanctions under the Complaint and Discipline Policy were appropriate.

14. During the next two months, Appellee and the Board engaged in negotiations in an attempt to come to a mutual agreement as to the next steps. These informal negotiations failed, and ultimately, in accordance with her authority to act as and for the International Grand Basileus under the revised Complaint and Discipline Policy, the International First Anti-Basileus issued discipline to Appellee effective as of May 13, 2021, 5:00 p.m. EST, which was essentially a probationary, temporary removal from office. Appendix II, pp. 568-569.

15. According to the Notification of Decision, this probation was only entered with respect to the rights, duties, and privileges of Appellee in her capacity as the International Grand Basileus and does not affect her privileges as a member of Zeta. Appendix II, p. 569.

16. Thus, while the Board had authority to discipline Appellee directly, her discipline in this case was recommended by the Board, and imposed by the International First Anti-Basileus, lawfully acting in the capacity of the

International Grand Basileus for purposes of the complaint and investigation against Appellee.

17. A meeting of the Sorority was held on August 28, 2021, which the Board deemed not proper because the proper protocols and procedures were not followed, the meeting was not properly convened, and could not be recognized as a Special Boulè or any other official meeting recognized by the Sorority. Appendix II, pp. 571-577.

18. Although there is no authority in statute or the Sorority's governing documents for the membership to engage in any part of the disciplinary procedures reserved to the Board, Sorority members present at the August 28, 2021 meeting reportedly voted to fully reinstate Appellee with no continuing restrictions on her duties, and that the Sorority pay the expenses related to the special meeting.

19. The Board refused to recognize the actions taken by the Sorority members at the August 28, 2021 meeting.

20. Ultimately, the Board has taken the position that there has been no official action of the Sorority that in anyway changes the outcome of the Board's disciplinary determination and action concerning Appellee's misconduct.

21. Appellee commenced this case on October 14, 2021 by filing a Complaint in Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Case No. 2021 CA 003737B. *See* Complaint ("Compl."), Appendix I, pp.7-33.

22. Appellee filed Motion for Preliminary Injunction on November 5,2021. See ("Compl."), Appendix I, pp. 40- 544.

23. Appellants Responded to Appellee's Motion for Preliminary Injunction on November 19, 2021. *See* Appendix II, pp. 545- 578.

24. Appellee Filed her Reply to Appellants' Opposition to Motion for Preliminary Injunction on November 29, 2021. *See* Appendix II, pp. 579-583.

25. At various times between December 15 and December 22, 2021, Appellants who had been served with the Complaint, filed Motions to Dismiss, or Alternatively, Compel Arbitration. *See* Appendix II, pp. 584-1331.

26. On December 30, 2021, Appellee filed her Opposition to Appellants' Motions to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss or Stay Proceedings and Request for Hearing. *See* Appendix III, pp. 1332-1339.

27. On January 5, 2022, The Superior Court Granted Appellant's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, denied Appellant's Motion to Dismiss and Granted Appellant's request to stay the proceedings and submit the dispute to binding arbitration. *See* Appendix III, pp. 1340-1351.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The principal issue in this appeal is that the trial judge issued an injunction Order that improperly imposed requirements on Appellants that are not authorized under the organizational documents under which Appellants perform their duties.

This Order is overly broad in its application and is not sufficiently supported by the record and represents an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

The standard of review applicable to this matter is abuse of discretion. Where the trial court has issued a preliminary injunction, the Court of Appeals defers to the trial court's findings of fact so long as they are sufficiently supported by the record. *See District of Columbia v. Group Ins. Admin.*, 633 A.2d 2, 22 (D.C.1993) (quoting *Wieck*, 350 A.2d at 387). In general, "our role ... is not to resolve the merits of the underlying dispute between the litigants." *Group Ins. Admin.*, 633 A.2d at 22. This general rule is subject to an exception: where "the action of the trial court turns on a question of law or statutory interpretation." *Id.* As to those questions, Court of Appeals' review is de novo. *See District of Columbia v. Sierra Club*, 670 A.2d 354, 361 (D.C.1996); *District Unemp't Comp. Bd. v. Sec. Storage Co. of Wash.*, 365 A.2d 785, 787 (D.C.1976). This matter turns on the interpretation of Constitution and Bylaws of the Sorority, and governing documents under D.C. Code § 29-401.50.

The Superior Court properly noted on page 6 of its opinion, that

Zeta Phi Beta Bylaws Article V, Section 2(e) states that the IEP has limited authority to remove an officer for "misfeasance, malfeasance, or nonfeasance in office for conduct that will hold the Sorority up to ridicule or contempt or bring discredit upon the Sorority."

The Superior Court, however, then incorrectly cited the same Article V, Section 2(e)(e), noting that the Board may recommend removal or suspension of any officer for just cause and proof thereof, "but the Bylaws do not allow the Board to suspend all rights, responsibilities, and duties of an officer for the remainder of her term." This limitation is not contained anywhere in Article V, Section (2)(e). The authority of the Board to "recommend removal or suspension of any officer for just cause and proof thereof" is found in Article XV, Section 2. concerning membership suspension.

28. Nothing in Article V, Section 2(e) or Article XV, Section 2(b) limit suspensions for the remainder of an officer's term or require assent of the membership for action by the Board. Moreover, the issue in dispute is not whether the Board had authority to remove the Appellee, but whether it had authority to suspend her, or take other disciplinary action besides removing her from office. Appellee acknowledged in her Motion for Preliminary Injunction that the Board may remove the International President. Article V, Section 2(e) of the Bylaws provides that the Board may remove an officer with the approval of least two-thirds (2/3) of the elected members of the Board. *See* Appendix I, p. 47. Indeed, Article V, Section 2(e) makes clear that the Board may remove an officer with the approval of least two-thirds (2/3) of the elected members of the Board. Appendix I, p. 99.

Zeta Phi Beta is a member-governed organization and the Board's authority is determined by the Constitution, Bylaws, and governing documents under D.C. Code § 29-401.50. The principal issue in this appeal is that the trial judge issued an injunction that improperly imposed requirements on Appellants that are not authorized under the organizational documents under which Appellants perform their duties. The Superior Court granted Appellee's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, but in doing so, ordered Appellants' to "refrain from taking further disciplinary action against Appellee without the consent of Zeta Phi Beta membership." This order is overly broad in its application in that it would prevent the Board from removing Appellee from office as authorized in the Bylaws, and is not sufficiently supported by the record and represents an abuse of discretion. The Bylaws provide that the Board may remove an officer, even to the extent that such removal may be deemed discipline. Moreover, there is no authority in the Sorority's governing documents that require the membership to consent to the Board's removal of an officer.

CONCLUSION

The Superior Court's Preliminary Injunction should be vacated and any further injunctive order should clarify that the Board may remove the Appellee from office in accordance with the Bylaws of the Sorority, and that consent by the Sorority membership for such a removal is not required. There is no authority in the Sorority's governing documents that require the membership to consent to the Board's removal of an officer.