## IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

## ZETA PHI BETA SORORITY, INC., INTERNATIONAL EXECUTIVE BOARD, et al., Received 07/22/2022 03:42 PM

Clerk of the Court

Appellants,

v.

## VALERIE HOLLINGSWORTH-BAKER,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, CIVIL DIVISION (Case No. CAB3737-21)

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE** 

Timothy F. Maloney, Esq. Joseph Greenwald and Laake PA 6404 Ivy Lane, Suite 400 Greenbelt, Maryland 20770 (301) 220-2200 tmaloney@jgllaw.com Counsel for Appellee

#### LIST OF ALL PARTIES AND COUNSEL

Valerie Hollingsworth-Baker, Appellee

Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Inc., International Executive Board, Appellant

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

credible reports Appellant Michelle Porter was misappropriating Zeta Funds. App., Vol. I at 489.

Appellants then hired McFadden Davis, LLS to perform an investigation into Appellee for alleged "unprofessionalism." App., Vol I at 494. The full findings of this investigation have never been made available to Appellee or the membership. Appellants relied on the investigation's findings as a pretext to remove Appellee from office. Appellants could not obtain a quorum and were unable to remove Appellee. Instead, Appellants suspended her, in violation of Zeta bylaws. *Id.* at 126 (stating only the Grand Basileus can suspend members).

The Bylaws make it clear that "the International Executive Board may recommend removal or suspension of any officer for just cause and proof thereof" Id. at 106, Art. XV, § 2(b). The Zeta Delegation of Authority Matrix further confirms this. Id. at 126 (stating that the IEB has only the authority to recommend suspension.). The Grand Basileus is the only individual who can impose such a discipline. Id. at 106, Art. XV, § 2(b); see id. at 497, n.2 (explaining that "under the sorority's policies...only the International Grand Basileus may impose a suspension on members and chapters...a suspension recommendation could not be effectuated unless the President decided to impose and sign off on her own suspension.").

The national membership of Zeta became aware of Appellants' efforts to remove Appellee and grew concerned. In response to Appellants' actions, 33 of Zeta's chapters voted to hold a Special Boulé, 3 in accordance with Zeta Bylaws and D.C. Code, which states

- [a] membership corporation shall hold a special meeting of members:
- (1) At the call of its board of directors or the persons authorized to do so by the articles of incorporation or bylaws.

D.C. Code § 29–405.02(a). App., Vol. I at 145; *id.* at 104, Art. XII, § 1 (enabling the calling of a Special Boulé upon the vote of 25 chapters).

The Special Boulé was scheduled for August 28, 2021 in New Orleans,
Louisiana, with both in-person and remote participation. Rather than participate in
the lawfully organized Special Boulé, Appellants sent cease and desist letters to
multiple chapters. *Id.* at 470–71. The letters threatened the chapters with
disciplinary action if they chose to exercise their rights under Article XII, Section 1
of Zeta Bylaws, enabling members to call and hold a Special Boulé. *Id.*; *Id.* at 104,
Art. XII, § 1. These letters were in open violation of the Zeta Delegation of
Authority Matrix, which allows only the Grand Basileus to send cease and desist
letters. *Id.* at 126.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A Boulé is a meeting of the entire Zeta body. A Grand Boulé is typically held every two years but can be called upon the request of 25 chapters. App., Vol. I at 104, Art. XII, § 1.

Appellants then filed a Petition in the 19th Judicial District Court for the Parish of East Baton Rouge, Louisiana in a last-minute attempt to stop the Special Boulé. Appellants were granted a 10-day temporary restraining order but were denied permanent injunctive relief on August 27, 2021. *Id.* at 475–77. After further review of the issues, the court declared that Zeta "is no longer enjoined from planning, hosting or otherwise holding the Special Boulé of Zeta Phi Beta that is currently convened for August 28, 2021." *Id.* 

Despite Appellants' threats and legal action, the Zeta membership did not waiver in their attendance or support of the Appellee. Over 2,500 members of Zeta attended the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé via Zoom.<sup>4</sup> A quorum was established before voting on two proposed measure:

(a) that the International Executive Board be instructed to immediately reinstate all rights, privileges and responsibilities as outlined in the Constitution & Bylaws and any other governing document related to the position of International Grand Basileus; and (b) that the International Grand Basileus ensure that all reimbursements and payments for any financial expenses incurred in connection with this Boulé be paid within the next thirty days and that all steps be taken to ensure that this directive is completed.

*Id.* at 21. By a 2 to 1 margin, the members voted to reinstate Appellee to her position as Grand Basileus.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Appellee was not able to participate until she was reinstated by the members.

Appellants then sent Appellee a cease and desist letter on September 10, 2021. App., Vol. I at 498–99. The letter incorrectly stated that Appellee was on probation and ordered her to refrain from performing any official duties. *Id.* The letter was a clear attempt to usurp Appellee's authority in violation of both Zeta bylaws, and the express vote of the membership at the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé.

On September 26, 2021, Appellants' held their own Special Boulé. At that meeting, members who supported Appellee were not recognized or allowed to participate. App., Vol I at 21. Anyone associated with the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé was not able to make a point of order, ask a question or make a motion. *Id.* Appellee was not allowed to speak despite her reinstatement as Grand Basileus, and multiple motions from her legal counsel requesting that she be allowed to address the Special Boulé. *Id.* at 22.

On October 19, 2021 Appellant Saniah Johnson, the Phylacter (Zeta's Parliamentarian), convened an unauthorized Constitution and Bylaws Committee to revise Zeta Phi Beta's international bylaws. *Id.* at 506. The committee was convened after both the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé and the September 26, 2021 Special Boulé, in violation of Zeta Bylaws. *Id.* at 87 (stating that any proposed changes shall be sent to the IEB at least *sixty days prior* to the opening of a Grand Boulé). The proposed amendments effectively stripped Appellee of all

authority. *Id.* at 507–516. The divested authority would be placed in the hands of the International Executive Board ("IEB"). *Id*.

Appellee initiated this action in the Superior Court after it became clear that Appellants' fraudulent attempts to remove Appellee from office would not stop. Appellee requested declaratory judgment and alleged three separate counts for violation of the D.C. Nonprofit Corporation Act of 2010, D.C. Code § 29-404.21 *et seq. Id.* at 26–30.

After extensive briefing and oral argument, the Superior Court entered a preliminary injunction that: prohibited Appellants' from taking further disciplinary actions, lifted Appellee's probation, in accordance with the vote taken at the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé, and ordered Appellants to adopt the measures passed at the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé. App., Vol. III at 1345.

The trial court's decision properly enforced the organization's governing documents. This Court should confirm the trial court's granting of injunctive relief on behalf of Appellee.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

- 1. Appellee was elected as Grand Basileus of Zeta in 2018. App., Vol. I at 13.
- 2. Appellee initiated an investigation into Appellant Michelle Porter Newman for misappropriation of funds in summer 2020. *Id.* at 489–92.

- 3. At an IEB meeting in August 25, 2020, Ms. Newman became visibly upset and pledged to take down other members of the IEB, including Appellee. *Id.* at 14.
- 4. In September of 2020, the IEB hired McFadden Davis, LLC to perform an investigation into Appellee after several alleged incidents of unprofessionalism. *Id.* at 493–97.
- 5. McFadden Davis' sole point of contact was Appellant, Dr. Mary B.Wright, a longtime opponent of Appellee and supporter of Ms. Norman. *Id.* at 16.
- 6. McFadden Davis concluded their investigation and initially recommended discipline that did not include removal of Appellee from her position. *Id.* at 16.
- 7. After speaking with Dr. Wright, McFadden Davis' submitted findings that recommended removal pursuant to Dr. Wright's request. *Id.* at 16.
- 8. However, even in the final executive summary, McFadden Davis states that "suspension for a period of time would be an appropriate disciplinary measure." *Id.* at 497, n.2.
  - 9. Appellee has not seen the full report created by McFadden Davis.
- 10. On March 15, 2021, the IEB suspended Standard Operating Procedure ("SOP") Rule 3.2 to unilaterally alter the Complaint and Discipline Policy. *See*

- App., Vol. II at 560 (stating that an executive meeting was held where SOP Rule 3.2 was suspended).
- 11. SOP Rule 3.2 requires the Grand Basileus' participation in any policy changes. App., Vol. I at 256.
- 12. SOP Rule 3.2 also requires the involvement of Zeta's legal department for any policy change. *Id*.
- 13. On March 25, 2021, the IEB held a hearing to determine whether to remove Appellee from her position as Grand Basileus. App., Vol. II at 568–69.
  - 14. The IEB did not remove Appellee. *Id*.
- 15. Numerous chapters grew concerned over the IEB's actions. App., Vol. I at 145.
- 16. 33 chapters requested to hold a Special Boulé, in accordance with Article XII, Section 1 of Zeta's bylaws which states: "[t]he Boulé is held every two (2) years unless the International Executive Board calls for an emergency meeting or receives requests from twenty-five (25) financial chapters." *Id.* at 145 (listing all 33 chapters that requested a Special Boulé.)
  - 17. This was the first Special Boulé in the sorority's history. *Id.* at 17.
- 18. In response to the request, Appellee appointed Dr. Barbara W. Carpenter, a member and former International President of Zeta, to Chair the Special Boulé Planning Committee on May 10, 2022. *See id.* at 197 (explaining

- that Dr. Carpenter was appointed as chair of the Special Boulé Planning Committee).
- 19. Dr. Barbara W. Carpenter, and the Special Boulé Planning
  Committee, called a Special Boulé for August 28, 2021. *Id.* at 193 (stating Dr.
  Carpenter sent out notice of Special Boulé set for August 28, 2021).
- 20. Appellants began initiating illegal disciplinary actions against Appellee soon thereafter. *Id.* at 504.
- 21. On May 13, 2021, Defendants decided to take retaliatory action against Appellee and placed her on probation just three days after she appointed Dr. Carpenter as chair of the Special Boulé Committee. App., Vol. I at 106, Art. XV, § 2(b) (stating that the IEB may only recommend suspension).
- 22. Also on May 13, 2021, Appellants sent a letter to the members informing them that Appellee was suspended for three months. *Id.* at 504.
- 23. Appellee's suspension, and letter to the membership, was in plain violation of Zeta Bylaws. *Id.* at 126–27.
- 24. Appellants also issued numerous cease and desist letters in an attempt to stop the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé. *Id.* at 470–71.
- 25. These letters threatened disciplinary action for chapters that participated. *Id*.

- 26. The IEB then scheduled its own Special Boulé for September 26, 2021 and sent registration information to the membership in late July. *Id.* at 464–68.
- 27. Appellants emailed the entire Zeta membership stating that they would not abide by any measures passed at the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé. *Id.* at 473.
- 28. Appellants did not have any authority to issue either the cease and desist letters or the email disclaiming the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé. *Id.* at 126–27.
- 29. On August 13, 2021, Appellee received a cease and desist letter from Appellants demanding that she stop planning the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé. *Id.* at 501.
- 30. Appellants filed a petition in the 19th Judicial District Court for the Parish of East Baton Rouge, Louisiana on August 13, 2021. *See id.* at 475–479 (reproducing the 19th Judicial District Court's order).
- 31. The court ultimately ordered that the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé could go forward. *Id*.
- 32. Dr. Carpenter proceeded with planning the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé.

- 33. On August 27, 2021, Parliamentary Associates completed an Investigation Report into Appellants' actions and discipline of Appellee. *Id.* at 188–198.
- 34. The report determined that Appellants' discipline of Appellee was an overreach of their authority as outlined in Zeta's bylaws. *Id.* at 194.
- 35. The report also determined that the IEB does not have supreme authority of Zeta, such that it overrides the rights of the Zeta membership. *Id*.
- 36. On August 28, 2021, a Special Boulé was held virtually in New Orleans, Louisiana. Over 2,500 members of Zeta Phi Beta attended via Zoom. *Id.* at 20.
  - 37. Zeta's members voted on only two matters:
    - (a) that the International Executive Board be instructed to immediately reinstate all rights, privileges and responsibilities as outlined in the Constitution & Bylaws and any other governing document related to the position of International Grand Basileus; and (b) that the International Grand Basileus ensure that all reimbursements and payments for any financial expenses incurred in connection with this Boulé be paid within the next thirty days and that all steps be taken to ensure that this directive is completed.

Id.

38. Zeta's members voted to reinstate Appellee by an overwhelming 2 to 1 margin. *Id*.

- 39. At this point Appellee was no longer subject to the IEB's unlawfully imposed probation.
  - 40. Appellee then logged on to address the members. *Id*.
- 41. On September 10, 2021, Appellants sent Appellee another cease and desist letter. *Id.* at 498.
  - 42. Again, Appellants did not have authority to send this letter. *Id.* at 126.
- 43. On September 26, 2021, Appellants held their own Special Boulé. *Id.* at 463–465.
- 44. Members who were supporters of Appellee were not recognized by the Chair and were not allowed to participate. *Id.* at 21–23.
- 45. Anyone who was involved in organizing or hosting the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé was not able to make a point of order, speak, or vote during the meeting. *Id*.
- 46. Likewise, Appellee was not allowed to participate, speak, or vote during the meeting despite being reinstated to power. *Id*.
- 47. The members voted on only one matter at the September 26, 2021 Special Boulé, to allow future meetings to occur remotely due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Id.*
- 48. No action was taken to discipline Appellee at the September 26, 2021 Special Boulé. *Id*.

- 49. On October 19, 2021, the Parliamentarian convened an unauthorized Constitution and Bylaws Committee to revise Zeta's international bylaws. *Id.* at 506.
- 50. The Parliamentarian sent Zeta membership a draft of all changes on October 27, 2021. *Id.* at 506.
  - 51. This was an attempt to divest Appellee of her authority.
- 52. The Court entered the preliminary injunction at issue in this matter on January 5, 2022, after extensive briefing and oral argument from counsel. App., Vol. III at 1345.
- 53. The parties then submitted to binding arbitration to resolve this matter.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The granting or denial of a preliminary injunction is discretionary with the trial court. Review on appeal is limited to a determination of 'whether there has been abuse of trial court discretion, clear error, violation of the rules of equity, or improvident granting." *McCallum v. McCallum*, 256 A.2d 911, 912 (1969) (quoting *Maas v. United States*, 125 U.S. D.C. App. 251, 371 F.2d 348 (1966)). This Court's role in review is not to resolve the substantive issues between the parties but to:

(1) [examine] the trial court's findings and conclusions to see if they are sufficiently supported by the record; (2) [assure] that the trial

court's analysis reflects a resolution of all the issues which necessarily underlie the issuance of an injunction; and (3) [inquire] into any other claims of an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

Don't Tear It Down, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 395 A.2d 388, 390–91 (1978) (quoting Wieck v. Sterenbuch, 350 A.2d 384, 387 (1976)).

Further, an abuse of discretion occurs only when an injunction is "not justified by and clearly against reason and evidence." *Johnson v. United States*, 398 A.2d 354, 363 (1979). However, "an exercise of discretion may be erroneous but still legal and free from abuse. Judicial discretion will not be reversed unless it appears that it was exercised on grounds, or for reasons, clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable." *Id*.

Injunctive relief is proper when the moving party is likely to succeed on the merits, will suffer irreparable harm, and is favored by the balance of convenience and public. *Wieck*, A.2d. at 387. Here, the trial court's decision was well within its discretion. After extensive briefing and oral argument, the trial court determined that all four factors were satisfied and found that Appellants' actions required injunctive relief.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court reviewed the record, briefs of counsel, and heard argument on the merits before entering a preliminary injunction in favor of Appellee. The court expressly determined that "the IEB [] had a contractual duty to the membership to

follow the formal bylaws and adopt all measures taken at the August 28, 2021 meeting." App., Vol. III at 1345. The court further found that "the Bylaws do not allow the IEB to suspend all rights, responsibilities, and duties of an officer for the remainder of her term." *Id.* Accordingly,

the IEB's disciplinary measures would irreparably injure Plaintiff, who wishes to continue her leadership position and pursue reelection. The threat of injury is "imminent and wellfounded." As the balance of harm weighs in Plaintiff's favor, the Court hereby issues a preliminary injunction against Defendants prohibiting Defendants from taking further disciplinary action against Plaintiff, lifting Plaintiff's probation, and ordering Defendants to recognize and adopt the measures passed in the August 28, 2021 special meeting.

Id.

The trial court determined that the vote of Zeta membership reinstating Appellee signified their desire to have Appellee lead Zeta as Grand Basileus, unencumbered by Appellants. *Id.* It was also determined that Appellants were likely to impose significant harm on Appellee via further, unwarranted discipline. *Id.* All findings were based on the facts of this matter, the record, and the arguments of counsel. The trial court properly enjoined Appellants' from continuing their crusade against Appellee.

Based on Appellants' previous actions, the vote of Zeta membership restoring Appellee to power, and Zeta's bylaws, the trial court's entry of preliminary injunction was not an abuse of discretion. This Court should confirm the trial court's decision.

### **ARGUMENT**

The trial court's decision to grant injunctive relief was founded in a plain reading of the Zeta Bylaws and Appellants' actions, which clearly violated the governing documents. Appellants point to irrelevant sections of Zeta's Bylaws in an attempt to mischaracterize the trial court's decision as misinformed. Appellants' Brief at 9–10. The Appellants then argue that they can suspend Appellee for the remainder of her term before abruptly switching their argument entirely, claiming that they can remove Appellee from her position. *Id.* at 10. This is untrue and no provision in the governing documents support this.

This Court should confirm the trial court's decision

## I. The trial court's order is sufficiently supported by the record.

Appellants inaccurately claim that the record does not support injunctive relief precluding further discipline of Appellee. The record is clear. Appellants' repeatedly violated Zeta's governing documents and Bylaws. Appellants would not stop their efforts to remove Appellee absent injunctive relief and would surely result in future harm to Appellee. *See Ramirez v. Salvaterra*, 232 A.3d 169, 184 (2020) (stating that injunctions serve to prevent future acts of harm). After a thorough review of the record, and oral argument, the trial court determined that 1) Appellee was likely to succeed on the merits due to the memberships vote to reinstate Appellee, 2) that Appellee was at risk of imminent and irreparable injury,

3) that the balance of convenience favors Appellee, and 4) that public interest favored Appellee. App., Vol. III at 1345; *Wieck*, A.2d. at 387.

The trial court's order is supported by Appellants' attempts to remove Appellee from power. In doing so, Appellants repeatedly and openly violated Zeta bylaws, and D.C. Code, by sending cease and desist letters, intimidating members, and attempting to silence anyone who opposed them. *See* App., Vol. I at 470–71 (threatening disciplinary action if members attend the August 28, 2021 Special Boulé); *Id.* at 28–81; D.C. Code § 29–405.02(a). Appellants' selectively ignore the vast majority of the record, and the membership's vote to reinstate Appellee in their brief.

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